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Question Energy Trust Response 

1. RFP Section 1.1 RFP Schedule: Please clarify if there will be an 
extension to the proposal deadline due to the current COVID-19 
pandemic. 

 
Due to the ever-changing Coronavirus situation, is Energy Trust 

considering a change to the overall RFP timeline and/or program start 

date? 

 

As of today, Energy Trust is not issuing any adjustments to the Proposal 
Submittal Deadline or other RFP timelines as indicated in Section 1.1, 
Table 1. RFP Schedule; however, we are continuing to monitor the 
situation closely each day.  
 
As indicated in the RFP, we will continue to keep in touch by posting any 
RFP changes to Energy Trust’s RFP webpage. We will also reach out 
directly, via email, to all respondents who submitted an Intent to Respond 
form.  
 

2. Can Energy Trust of Oregon outline their ability (if at all) to access 
meter data (particularly interval meter data) from the utility 
partners (electric and gas) that are served through the proposed 
programs? 

• Similarly, this question also applies to associated 
firmographic data (business name, address, NAICS code, 
contact information, etc.) associated with 
the account/meter.  

• Is it expected that bidders need to individually pass 
required security requirements for each utility (where 
applicable data exists) to receive this data or is there a 
plan to centralize the process through Energy Trust of 
Oregon? 

 

Energy Trust only receives monthly billing data from its utility partners for 
most customers and it is not received in real-time. There are also 
exceptions where monthly billing data for certain customers are not 
provided – for example, because those customers are not subject to utility 
data sharing requirements or where customers have opted out of utility 
data sharing. Getting access to interval data has been discussed, but 
currently, Energy Trust does not have access to interval data, and there 
are no specific/near-term plans to obtain access to interval data. 

The monthly billing data Energy Trust receives from its utility partners 
includes customer name and address. Phone numbers are not provided 
by any utility partners; e-mails are currently only provided by a single utility 
partner. SIC codes are provided by four utility partners, but the coverage is 
uneven, and the accuracy is unknown. 
 
Energy Trust’s CRM contains firmographic data, including business name, 
address, contact information, and industry (though not specifically NAICS 
code) for past participants; note that this is a fraction of all the potential 
customers in Energy Trust’s service territory. 
 

Contractors of Energy Trust are able to receive access to the monthly 
billing data it receives from its utility partners, provided that they sign 
required nondisclosure agreements (both at a company level and at an 
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individual level) and abide by all requirements related to data security and 
privacy unique to these data.  
 

3. In regard to the section 5.D Financial Package, is Energy Trust 
willing to sign an NDA with a prime contractor and/or subcontractor 
(as applicable) prior to having bidders submit their 
confidential financial statements and Legal details to you? If so, what 
is the best way to coordinate this process? 

 

Yes, provided that the terms of the nondisclosure agreement are 
acceptable to Energy Trust with regards to the information requested. 
Respondent would need to submit the proposal with those sections 
marked as to be provided following successful negotiation and execution 
of a nondisclosure agreement with Energy Trust. 
 

4. What Energy Trust staff will be involved in the PDC Lighting 
Program? 

 

It depends based on the final program structure implemented as a result of 
the RFP; however, Energy Trust currently anticipates that there would be a 
Business Lighting Program Manager overseeing the program. This role will 
coordinate closely with the Existing Buildings Program manager as well as 
other internal groups including Planning, Evaluation, IT, Finance, and 
Marketing. 
 

5. Can you clarify what you meant on the pre-bid webinar about PDC 
lighting not doing any direct customer outreach? Are you including 
CBOs in that? 

 

Energy Trust has designed the Business Lighting program to be a Trade 
Ally driven program. This is how the industrial lighting program currently 
operates. This means that the Business Lighting PDC team would not be 
responsible for performing direct customer outreach to procure leads and 
generate lighting projects (with the limited exception of Lighting Analysis 
Studies and Direct Install).  

The program design is that project leads for Business Lighting are the 
responsibility of the Commercial PMC and the Industrial PDC account 
managers, or through Trade Allies. Customer needs can be complex, and 
Energy Trust believes that program account managers are in the best 
position to be familiar with a site's history of efficiency activities and to 
serve as the key point of contact with customers.   

Regarding work with community-based organizations, Energy Trust's 
relationships with these groups can vary – sometimes CBOs are a channel 
to reach customers with offerings that generate savings, and they may 
also serve as delivery / implementers for program offerings, including but 
not limited to direct-install. For the latter, the Business Lighting PDC would 
lead work with CBOs that involve delivery of lighting offers. The Business 
Lighting PDC would also be responsible for coordinating with the 
Commercial PMC that may have other customer-oriented work with this 
same organization. 
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6. Appendix G the RFP mentions "PDC Marketing (Option 2): The 
PDC will be responsible for supporting marketing efforts for Existing 
Buildings". Can you please clarify what you mean by support?  
 
Will the PDC not be responsible for the lighting program marketing?  
 
Should the PDC budget for such support and do you have a 
suggested budget level? 

 

Please refer to the Roles & Responsibilities APPENDIX G.  
 
The Business Lighting PDC does not have responsibility for developing 
and implementing marketing activities that would typically be provided by a 
marketing department (graphic design, copywriting and other creative 
services). However, providing input into marketing is a critical role for the 
PDC to ensure the overall success of the program in reaching customers.  
 
Marketing, regardless of who creates it, can only be effective if the market 
information and coordination with customer outreach is strong. Marketing 
Support includes a range of work including (but not limited to) providing 
regular/frequent market intelligence that informs marketing strategy and 
implementation, reviewing and providing input on marketing, participating 
in marketing planning meetings and other responsibilities.  
 
Energy Trust implements other programs under this design, and it requires 
a high level of collaboration between PDC and PMC and with Energy Trust 
Program Marketing. The PDC should allocate hours (and budget) to this 
function. Under other programs, it's frequently the outreach team members 
who serve this role, but it could be others based on the structure of the 
team.   
 
Energy Trust did not specify a suggested budget level for this role, but it 
could be similar to, or potentially higher than, the time that would be spent 
collaborating with an internal marketing team.  
 

7. Appendix E Section A.1. includes the following sentence: “PDC 
respondents should propose a direct install program for small and 
medium businesses (excluding unit multifamily) that could include 
lighting and non-lighting measures.”  
 
Does the phrase “excluding unit multifamily” indicate the PDC 
implementer will NOT be responsible for direct installing lighting or 
non-lighting measures inside residential units in multifamily buildings?   

 

Currently, direct-install services for the Existing Buildings program focus 
on commercial lighting opportunities, and as such are best suited to be 
delivered through the Business Lighting PDC in 2021.  
 
Through this shift, direct-install services delivered through the PDC should 
reach all commercial and industrial customer types served by the PDC. 
This would include multifamily where commercial lighting opportunities are 
primarily in common areas and exterior lighting. The current multifamily 
program’s direct-install offerings are primarily residential (in-unit) in focus, 
with little overlap with other measures that the Business Lighting PDC 
provides. These would be delivered by the Existing Buildings PMC.  
 

8. Will the PDC implementer be responsible for direct installs of 
lighting or non-lighting measures in the common areas of multifamily 
buildings? 
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Energy Trust is open to considering different delivery models for offerings 
that serve both common area and dwelling units for multifamily customers. 
Ultimately Energy Trust is seeking to streamline customer engagements 
and maximize savings opportunities at each site. 
 

9. Will the PDC implementer be responsible for outreach to 
multifamily building owners and operators and Trade Allies serving 
this market for how to submit applications through the Business 
Lighting Program, or will the PDC implementer receive installation 
workorders or applications from the PMC? 

 

The Business Lighting PDC will not be responsible for direct outreach to 

customers, including multifamily building owners and operators. This 

activity will be owned by the PMC account managers who may provide 

leads to the PDC for these projects. The PDC will provide assistance to 

Trade Allies who are working with multifamily projects. (See Q&A #7 

above) 

10. Appendix P, Section 1.3. A. provided a template for respondents 
to provide DEI Contracting Goals. Is there a target Projected Total 
DEI Contractor Spend (%)? 

 

Energy Trust has not set a specific target in this RFP; however, 
respondent’s submitted Part 9 (DEI Subcontracting Plan) should address 
all required APPENDIX P information, including respondent’s proposed 
Projected Total DEI Contractor Spend (%) over the three-year time period 
indicated. 
 

11. Part 8 (Administrative), Section C: Please further define 
“significant role in program implementation and handling of program 
funds” and clarify which bullets subcontractors that align with those 
requirements must provide. 

 

Respondents must submit all of the Part 8 (Administrative), Section C, 
Financial Package components for both the respondent and for any 
proposed subcontractors who would perform program implementation 
services representing 5% of the total proposed bid amount in any year 
indicated.  In addition, for any subcontractor that does not meet this 
threshold, but that would have responsibilities entailing for any handling of 
program funds (e.g., processing incentives, signing off on or hand 
delivering project payments, approving invoices, etc.) respondent must 
provide the following: 

• List of all legal or administrative proceedings pending and 
concluded for such respondent subcontractor firm within the last 
five years that relate to procurement or performance of any public 
or private contracts; and 

• Statement about whether the respondent subcontractor firm or its 
predecessors or any principal of such firm has been insolvent or 
declared bankruptcy within the past five years 

 

12. For sections with overarching page limits, then page limits in 
individual subsections within the overarching section, please provide 
clarification on the page count. For example, in Part 7 
(Qualifications), the page limit is 12 pages, then there is an 8-page 

Page limits stated are maximums. Excluding attachments, respondent 
should not exceed the overarching page limit or the limit for any individual 
subsection when noted. In the case referenced in the question, the limit 
would be 12 pages total with no more than 8 of those 12 pages dedicated 
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limit for DEI Qualifications and Experience and a 1-page limit for 
Required Licenses and Certifications. Is that a 21-page limit, or 12 
pages with 8 dedicated to DEI and 1 dedicated to licenses and 
certifications? 
 

to DEI Qualifications and Experience, and no more than 1 page dedicated 
to licenses and certifications.  
 

13. Is Energy Trust able to provide details on the specific target areas 
that have historically been underserved by Energy Trust’s commercial 
programs (e.g., what areas are considered “very rural”)? 

 

Energy Trust has used the USDA’s Rural-Urban Commuting Area (RUCA) 
codes that measure population density, urbanization, and daily commuting 
by US census tract to examine past participation trends. The very rural 
census tracts are a large portion of land area in Energy Trust service 
territory (approx. 50% of land area) but make up approximately three 
percent of Energy Trust’s commercial sites, as compared to the very urban 
areas that have 70 percent of commercial sites. In these very rural areas, 
the Existing Buildings program has historically had a much lower rate of 
participation rates for both small/medium and large commercial sites (as 
defined by annual kWh usage). More information on this definition of 
urban/rural areas and Energy Trust participation rates can be found in a 
2018 Energy Trust Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Baseline Analysis Study. 
Additional information on program participation by market segment and 
technology can be found in the 2018 Energy Trust Existing Buildings 
Process Evaluation and the 2019 Existing Multifamily Process Evaluation. 
 

14. Given the recommendations for social distancing, is it possible to 
submit Appendix Q with an electronic signature only, rather than the 
current requirement to submit one original with a wet signature?  

 

Digital signatures are acceptable.  
 

15. In light of the current Corona virus situation, would Energy Trust 

of Oregon reconsider/waive the requirement for 10 hard copies to be 

submitted by the April 17th (5pm) deadline, and instead accept the 

electronic copy submittal only? If not, can there be some date 

flexibility for accepting hard copies (i.e. accept the electronic 

submittal on April 17th, with 10 hard copies to be delivered with 3 

business days after that)? 

  

 

Energy Trust is considering this question and will post an answer to this 
question by March 30, 2020.  
 

 

https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rural-urban-commuting-area-codes/
https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rural-urban-commuting-area-codes/
https://www.energytrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/2018_DEI_Data_Baseline_Analysis.pdf
https://www.energytrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/ETO-Existing-Buildings-Process-Evaluation-FINAL-wSR.pdf
https://www.energytrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/ETO-Existing-Buildings-Process-Evaluation-FINAL-wSR.pdf
https://www.energytrust.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Existing-MF-Process-Final-Report_122019_wSR.pdf

